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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 

CASE NO.: 

 

VIVIAN LIS LEJBMAN, individually, and      

on behalf of all others similarly situated, 

             

 Plaintiff,  

v. 

 

TRANSNATIONAL FOODS, INC.,  

a Florida corporation, and CONSERVAS  

CERQUEIRA, S.A., a foreign corporation, 

 

 Defendants.  

________________________________________/ 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff VIVIAN LIS LEJBMAN (“Plaintiff”), individually, and on behalf of all 

similarly situated persons, by and through the undersigned counsel, hereby files this Class Action 

Complaint against Defendants TRANSNATIONAL FOODS, INC. (“TFI”), a Florida 

corporation, and CONSERVAS CERQUEIRA, S.A. (“CERQUEIRA”), a foreign corporation, 

and in support thereof, respectfully alleges the following: 

Nature of Action 

1. TFI is a food product brand with an array of grains, condiments, rice, seafood, 

pastas, olive oils, marinades and such other foods which cater to predominantly Hispanic 

communities.  Its food products are sold at small and large retailers, including supermarkets, 

pharmacy chains and big box stores, throughout the country, and extensively online.   

2. As part of its suite of products, TFI sells three canned octopus products under the 

brand name “Pampa”: (1) Octopus in Garlic Sauce, (2) Octopus in Vegetable Oil, and (3) 

Octopus in Marinara Sauce (collectively the “Octopus Products”). 
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3. CERQUEIRA is a large seafood supplier and cannery that supplies various 

seafood products to United States based brands.  At all times relevant, and during the relevant 

class period, it supplied and supplies all of the Octopus Products to TFI.  It also sells similar 

products to other United States brands including but not limited to Roland Foods, Iberia, and 

Vigo Importing Co., and Conchita Foods, Inc. (all octopus sold in the United States which were 

and are supplied by CERQUEIRA shall be referred to as the “CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand 

Octopus Products”). 

4. TFI has labeled and sold its Octopus Products as octopus (or pulpo).  Independent 

DNA testing, however, has determined that TFI’s Octopus Products (supplied by CERQUEIRA) 

are actually jumbo squid and not octopus; squid is significantly cheaper and of a lower quality 

than octopus.  The word “Octopus” or “Pulpo” is prominently displayed on the label of each box 

in a large font as shown below.  Nowhere on the box does it state that the Octopus Products 

contain squid instead of octopus.  Additional testing has revealed that this bait and switch is 

occurring throughout the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products. 

5. Octopus and jumbo squid are both cephalopods, but are otherwise completely 

different species.   

 
 

Jumbo Squid 
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Octopus 

6. The scientific classification for jumbo squid is as follows: 

Kingdom Animalia 

Phylum Mollusca 

Class Cephalopoda 

Order Teuthida 

Family Ommastrephidae 

Genus Dosidicus 

Species Dosidicus gigas 

7. The scientific classification Octopus is as follows: 

Kingdom Animalia 

Phylum Mollusca 

Class Cephalopoda 

Order Octopoda 

Family Octopodidae 
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Genus Octopus 

Species Octopus vulgaris 

 

8. In recent years, the cost of octopus has increased rapidly as octopus populations 

have dwindled around the world due to over-fishing.  In 2005, the European Union imposed new 

restrictions on octopus fishing because the octopus might be at risk of “dying out … if controls 

are not enforced to stop overfishing.”  In 2010, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the 

United Nations reported that octopus populations “remain overexploited.”  In 2014, the 

Monterey Bay Aquarium issued a report on the state of octopus stocks around the world.  The 

report concluded that “octopus stocks are in poor shape.”  In July, 2014, SeafoodSource.com 

reported that octopus supplies had fallen by 45 percent in approximately one year, causing a 

dramatic increase in the price of octopus. 

9. At the same time that octopus populations have been declining, jumbo squid 

populations have been thriving.  In 2010, Scientific American magazine reported that “[a]lthough 

many of the Pacific Ocean’s big species are floundering, one large creature of the deep seems to 

be flourishing.  The Humboldt squid (Dosidicus gigas, also known as jumbo squid, owing to its 

sizable nature) has been steadily expanding its population and range.”  On May 11, 2013, 

Stanford biologist William Gilly gave a TED talk in which he explained that the jumbo squid is 

thriving due to its ability to adapt to changing ocean conditions caused by global warming.    

10. As a result of these developments, the cost of octopus has risen dramatically 

compared to the cost of squid.  In addition, due to similarities in texture, squid can easily be 

substituted for octopus particularly when sold in a sauce like garlic sauce or marinara sauce.   

11. Plaintiff is informed and believes that TFI and CERQUEIRA have intentionally 

replaced the octopus in its Octopus Products with squid as a cheap substitute to save money 
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because they knew an ordinary consumer would have trouble distinguishing the difference.  In 

fact, in 2011, CERQUEIRA was sanctioned by a local government in Spain for this bait and 

switch, and CERQUEIRA committed to stopping the offending conduct. 

Parties 

12. At all times material hereto, Plaintiff was and is a resident of San Diego, 

California, over the age of eighteen and otherwise sui juris.  While living in California, Plaintiff 

purchased the Octopus Products and throughout the class period, she relied on the representation 

that they contained octopus; she would not have purchased the Octopus Products had she known 

that in actuality, they contained squid. 

13. At all times material hereto, TFI was and is a for profit corporation, organized and 

existing under the laws of the State of Florida, with a principal place of business located at 1110 

Brickell Avenue, Suite 808, Miami, Florida 33131. 

14. At all times material hereto, CERQUEIRA was and is a foreign for profit 

corporation, located in Pontevedra, Spain.  CERQUEIRA has substantial and not isolated 

business relationships in the State of Florida and in the United States by virtue of its contractual 

relationships with various U.S. based entities selling its food products throughout the country; it 

has engaged in substantial activity within Florida and has, therefore, subjected itself to the 

jurisdiction of the Courts of this State pursuant to Section 48.193(2), Florida Statutes. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

15. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A) 

because this case is a class action where the aggregate claims of all members of the proposed 

class are in excess of $5,000,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs, and most members are 

citizens of states different from the Defendants.  This Court also has supplemental jurisdiction 
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over state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

16. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391, this Court is the proper venue for this action 

because a substantial part of the events, omissions, and acts giving rise to the claims herein 

occurred in this District as key decision making, importation, and shipping occurred in Florida. 

17. Plaintiff has retained the undersigned law firm to represent him (as well as all 

those similarly situated) in this action and is required to pay said firm a reasonable fee and costs 

for its services. 

Class Representation Allegations 

18. While discovery is ongoing (and, thus, future amendments may be necessary), 

Plaintiff seeks to represent a proposed class that may be generally defined in two subclasses:  (1) 

all persons in the United States who purchased the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products 

from November of 2011 to the present; and, (2) all persons in the United States who purchased 

the Octopus Products from November of 2011 to the present.  Excluded from the classes are 

persons who made such purchases for purpose of resale. 

19. While discovery is ongoing (and, thus, future amendments may be necessary), the 

approximate size of the proposed class could be in excess of one million persons. 

20. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all Class members and predominate 

over questions affecting only individual Class members.  Common legal and factual questions 

include, but are not limited to: whether TFI’s and CERQUEIRA’s Octopus Products are squid 

rather than octopus; whether TFI and CERQUEIRA warranted that its Octopus Products were 

octopus when in fact they were squid; and whether TFI and CERQUEIRA committed statutory 

and common law fraud by doing so. 
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21. The claims of the named Plaintiff are typical of the claims of the Class in that the 

named Plaintiff purchased the products in reliance on the representations and warranties 

described above and suffered a loss as a result of that purchase. 

22. Plaintiff is an adequate representative of the Class and Subclass because his 

interests do not conflict with the interests of the Class members he seeks to represent, he has 

retained competent counsel experienced in prosecuting class actions, and he intends to prosecute 

this action strenuously.  The interests of Class members will be fairly and adequately protected 

by Plaintiff and his counsel. 

COUNT I 

Breach of Express Warranty 

as to TFI 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

23. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the proposed Class against 

TFI. 

24. TFI, as the designer, manufacturer, marketer, distributor, and/or seller, expressly 

warranted that its Octopus Products contained octopus.   

25. In fact, the Octopus Products contain squid instead of octopus and TFI’s express 

warranties that the Octopus Products contained octopus are therefore false.   

26. As a direct and proximate cause of TFI’s breach of express warranty, Plaintiff and 

Class members have been injured and harmed because:  (a) they would not have purchased the 

Octopus Products on the same terms if they had known the true facts that the Octopus Products 

contained squid instead of octopus; (b) they paid a price premium for the Octopus Products due 

to TFI’s  promises that it contained octopus; and (c) TFI’s Octopus Products did not have the 

characteristics, ingredients, uses or benefits, as promised. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 
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similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant TFI. 

COUNT II 

Breach of Express Warranty 

as to CERQUEIRA 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

27. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the proposed Class against 

CERQUEIRA. 

28. CERQUEIRA, as the designer, manufacturer, marketer, distributor, and/or seller, 

expressly warranted that its CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products contained octopus.   

29. In fact, the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products contain squid instead of 

octopus and CERQUEIRA’s express warranties that the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus 

Products contained octopus are therefore false.   

30. As a direct and proximate cause of CERQUEIRA’s breach of express warranty, 

Plaintiff and Class members have been injured and harmed because:  (a) they would not have 

purchased the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products on the same terms if they had 

known the true facts that the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products contained squid 

instead of octopus; (b) they paid a price premium for the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus 

Products due to TFI’s promises that it contained octopus; and (c) the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand 

Octopus Products did not have the characteristics, ingredients, uses or benefits, as promised. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 

similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant CERQUEIRA. 

Case 1:16-cv-25023-CMA   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 12/02/2016   Page 8 of 22



 
 

9 
 

COUNT III 

Breach of the Implied Warranty of Merchantability 

as to TFI 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

31. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the proposed Class against 

TFI. 

32. TFI, as the designer, manufacturer, marketer, distributor, and/or seller, impliedly 

warranted that the Octopus Products contained octopus.  

33. TFI breached the warranty implied in the contract for the sale of its Octopus 

Products because it could not pass without objection in the trade under the contract description, 

the goods were not of fair average quality within the description, and the goods were unfit for 

their intended and ordinary purpose because the Octopus Products contained squid instead of 

octopus.  As a result, Plaintiff and Class members did not receive the goods as impliedly 

warranted by TFI to be merchantable. 

34. Plaintiff and Class members purchased the Octopus Products in reliance upon 

TFI’s skill and judgment and the implied warranties of fitness for the purpose. 

35. The Octopus Products were not altered by Plaintiff or Class members.   

36. The Octopus Products were defective when it left the exclusive control of TFI. 

37. TFI knew that the Octopus Products would be purchased and used without 

additional testing by Plaintiff and Class members. 

38. The Octopus Products were defectively designed and unfit for their intended 

purpose, and Plaintiff and Class members did not receive the goods as warranted. 

39. As a direct and proximate cause of TFI’s breach of the implied warranty, Plaintiff 

and Class members have been injured and harmed because:  (a) they would not have purchased 

the Octopus Products on the same terms if they had known the true facts that the Octopus 

Products contained squid instead of octopus; (b) they paid a price premium for the Octopus 

Case 1:16-cv-25023-CMA   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 12/02/2016   Page 9 of 22



 
 

10 
 

Products due to TFI’s promises that it contained octopus; and (c) TFI’s Octopus Products did not 

have the characteristics, ingredients, uses or benefits, as promised. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 

similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant TFI. 

COUNT IV 

Breach of the Implied Warranty of Merchantability 

as to CERQUEIRA 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

40. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the proposed Class against 

CERQUEIRA. 

41. CERQUEIRA, as the designer, manufacturer, marketer, distributor, and/or seller, 

impliedly warranted that the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products contained octopus.  

42. CERQUEIRA breached the warranty implied in the contract for the sale of its 

CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products because it could not pass without objection in the 

trade under the contract description, the goods were not of fair average quality within the 

description, and the goods were unfit for their intended and ordinary purpose because the 

CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products contained squid instead of octopus.  As a result, 

Plaintiff and Class members did not receive the goods as impliedly warranted by CERQUEIRA 

to be merchantable. 

43. Plaintiff and Class members purchased the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus 

Products in reliance upon CERQUEIRA’s skill and judgment and the implied warranties of 

fitness for the purpose. 

44. The CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products were not altered by Plaintiff or 

Class members.   
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45. The CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products were defective when it left the 

exclusive control of TFI. 

46. CERQUEIRA knew that the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products would 

be purchased and used without additional testing by Plaintiff and Class members. 

47. The CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products were defectively designed and 

unfit for their intended purpose, and Plaintiff and Class members did not receive the goods as 

warranted. 

48. As a direct and proximate cause of CERQUEIRA’s breach of the implied 

warranty, Plaintiff and Class members have been injured and harmed because:  (a) they would 

not have purchased the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products on the same terms if they 

had known the true facts that the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products contained squid 

instead of octopus; (b) they paid a price premium for the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus 

Products due to CERQUEIRA’s promises that it contained octopus; and (c) the CERQUEIRA 

Cross-Brand Octopus Products did not have the characteristics, ingredients, uses or benefits, as 

promised. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 

similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant CERQUEIRA. 

COUNT V 

Breach of the Implied Warranty of Fitness for a Particular Purpose 

as to TFI 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

49. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the proposed Class against 

TFI. 
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50. TFI marketed, distributed, and/or sold the Octopus Products with implied 

warranties that they were fit for their intended purposes in that they contained octopus.  At the 

time that the Octopus Products were sold, TFI knew or had reason to know that Plaintiff and 

Class members were relying on its skill and judgment to select or furnish a product that was 

suitable for sale. 

51. Plaintiff and Class members purchased the Octopus Products in reliance upon 

TFI’s implied warranties. 

52. The Octopus Products were not altered by Plaintiff or Class members. 

53. As a direct and proximate cause of TFI’s breach of the implied warranty, Plaintiff 

and Class members have been injured and harmed because:  (a) they would not have purchased 

the Octopus Products on the same terms if they had known the true facts that the Octopus 

Products contained squid instead of octopus; (b) they paid a price premium for the Octopus 

Products due to TFI’s promises that it contained octopus; and (c) TFI’s Octopus Products did not 

have the characteristics, ingredients, uses or benefits, as promised. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 

similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant TFI. 

COUNT VI 

Breach of the Implied Warranty of Fitness for a Particular Purpose 

as to CERQUEIRA 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

54. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the proposed Class against 

TFI. 

55. CERQUEIRA marketed, distributed, and/or sold the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand 

Octopus Products with implied warranties that they were fit for their intended purposes in that 
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they contained octopus.  At the time that the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products were 

sold, CERQUEIRA knew or had reason to know that Plaintiff and Class members were relying 

on its skill and judgment to select or furnish a product that was suitable for sale. 

56. Plaintiff and Class members purchased the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus 

Products in reliance upon CERQUEIRA’s implied warranties. 

57. The CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products were not altered by Plaintiff or 

Class members. 

58. As a direct and proximate cause of CERQUEIRA’s breach of the implied 

warranty, Plaintiff and Class members have been injured and harmed because:  (a) they would 

not have purchased the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products on the same terms if they 

had known the true facts that the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products contained squid 

instead of octopus; (b) they paid a price premium for the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus 

Products due to CERQUEIRA’s promises that it contained octopus; and (c) the CERQUEIRA 

Cross-Brand Octopus Products did not have the characteristics, ingredients, uses or benefits, as 

promised. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 

similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant CERQUEIRA. 

COUNT VII 

Unjust Enrichment 

as to TFI 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

59. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the proposed Class against 

TFI. 
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60. Plaintiff and Class members conferred benefits on TFI by purchasing the Octopus 

Products.   

61. TFI has been unjustly enriched in retaining the revenues derived from Plaintiff 

and Class members’ purchases of the Octopus Products.  Retention of those moneys under these 

circumstances is unjust and inequitable because TFI misrepresented that the Octopus Products 

contained octopus when in fact they contained squid.  These misrepresentations caused injuries 

to Plaintiff and Class members because they would not have purchased the Octopus Products if 

the true facts were known.  

62. Because TFI’s retention of the non-gratuitous benefits conferred on it by Plaintiff 

and Class members is unjust and inequitable, TFI must pay restitution to Plaintiff and Class 

members for its unjust enrichment, as ordered by the Court. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 

similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant TFI. 

COUNT VIII 

Unjust Enrichment 

as to CERQUEIRA 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

63. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the proposed Class against 

CERQUEIRA. 

64. Plaintiff and Class members conferred benefits on TFI by purchasing the 

CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products.   

65. CERQUEIRA has been unjustly enriched in retaining the revenues derived from 

Plaintiff and Class members’ purchases of the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products.  

Retention of those moneys under these circumstances is unjust and inequitable because 
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CERQUEIRA misrepresented that the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products contained 

octopus when in fact they contained squid.  These misrepresentations caused injuries to Plaintiff 

and Class members because they would not have purchased the Octopus Products if the true facts 

were known.  

66. Because CERQUEIRA’s retention of the non-gratuitous benefits conferred on it 

by Plaintiff and Class members is unjust and inequitable, CERQUEIRA must pay restitution to 

Plaintiff and Class members for its unjust enrichment, as ordered by the Court. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 

similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant CERQUEIRA. 

COUNT IX 

Negligent Misrepresentation 

as to TFI 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

67. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the proposed Class against 

TFI. 

68. As discussed above, TFI misrepresented that the Octopus Products contained 

octopus when in fact they contained squid.  TFI had a duty to disclose this information. 

69. At the time TFI made these representations, TFI knew or should have known that 

these representations were false or made them without knowledge of their truth or veracity. 

70. At an absolute minimum, TFI negligently misrepresented and/or negligently 

omitted material facts about the Octopus Products. 

71. The negligent misrepresentations and omissions made by TFI, upon which 

Plaintiff and Class members reasonably and justifiably relied, were intended to induce and 

actually induced Plaintiff and Class members to purchase the Octopus Products. 
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72. Plaintiff and Class members would not have purchased the Octopus Products if 

the true facts had been known. 

73. The negligent actions of TFI caused damage to Plaintiff and Class members, who 

are entitled to damages and other legal and equitable relief as a result. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 

similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant TFI. 

COUNT X 

Negligent Misrepresentation 

as to CERQUEIRA 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

74. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the proposed Class against 

CERQUEIRA. 

75. As discussed above, CERQUEIRA misrepresented that the CERQUEIRA Cross-

Brand Octopus Products contained octopus when in fact they contained squid.  CERQUEIRA 

had a duty to disclose this information. 

76. At the time CERQUEIRA made these representations, CERQUEIRA knew or 

should have known that these representations were false or made them without knowledge of 

their truth or veracity. 

77. At an absolute minimum, CERQUEIRA negligently misrepresented and/or 

negligently omitted material facts about the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products. 

78. The negligent misrepresentations and omissions made by CERQUEIRA, upon 

which Plaintiff and Class members reasonably and justifiably relied, were intended to induce and 

actually induced Plaintiff and Class members to purchase the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand 

Octopus Products. 
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79. Plaintiff and Class members would not have purchased the CERQUEIRA Cross-

Brand Octopus Products if the true facts had been known. 

80. The negligent actions of CERQUEIRA caused damage to Plaintiff and Class 

members, who are entitled to damages and other legal and equitable relief as a result. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 

similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant CERQUEIRA. 

COUNT XI 

Fraud 

as to TFI 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

81. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the proposed Class against 

TFI. 

82. As discussed above, TFI provided Plaintiff and Class members with false or 

misleading material information and failed to disclose material facts about its Octopus Products, 

including but not limited to the fact that it contained squid when the product was represented to 

contain octopus.  These misrepresentations and omissions were made with knowledge of their 

falsehood. 

83. The misrepresentations and omissions made by TFI, upon which Plaintiff and 

Class members reasonably and justifiably relied, were intended to induce and actually induced 

Plaintiff and Class members to purchase the Octopus Products. 

84. TFI’s fraudulent actions caused damage to Plaintiff and Class members, who are 

entitled to damages and other legal and equitable relief as a result. 

85. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that 

this Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 
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similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant TFI. 

COUNT XII 

Fraud 

as to CERQUEIRA 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

86. Plaintiff brings this claim individually and on behalf of the proposed Class against 

CERQUEIRA. 

87. As discussed above, CERQUEIRA provided Plaintiff and Class members with 

false or misleading material information and failed to disclose material facts about its 

CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products, including but not limited to the fact that it 

contained squid when the product was represented to contain octopus.  These misrepresentations 

and omissions were made with knowledge of their falsehood. 

88. The misrepresentations and omissions made by CERQUEIRA, upon which 

Plaintiff and Class members reasonably and justifiably relied, were intended to induce and 

actually induced Plaintiff and Class members to purchase the CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand 

Octopus Products. 

89. TFI’s fraudulent actions caused damage to Plaintiff and Class members, who are 

entitled to damages and other legal and equitable relief as a result. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 

similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant CERQUEIRA. 
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COUNT XIII 
Violation of Florida’s Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act 

as to TFI 
 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

90. This is an action based on TFI’s intentional and unfair deception of consumers in 

Florida and throughout the United States.  

91. By its unfair and deceptive conduct (as more fully alleged hereinabove), TFI has 

unreasonably grossed profited by deceiving the public and pawning of an inferior squid product 

as octopus. 

92. Florida’s Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”) was passed by 

the Florida Legislature in 1973 for the purpose of modernizing law governing consumer 

protection, unfair methods of competition, and unconscionable, deceptive and unfair trade 

practices, and to protect the consuming public and legitimate businesses from those who engage 

in unfair methods of competition.  

93. FDUTPA ensures that Florida consumer protection is consistent with the 

established policies of Federal consumer protection laws. To that end, in addition to generally 

prohibiting “unfair methods of competition” and “unconscionable, unfair or deceptive acts,” 

FUDTPA specifically gives “great weight” to the interpretations of the Federal Trade 

Commission Act by Federal Courts and the Federal Trade Commission.  

94. Labels on products for consumption must be strictly accurate, reflecting exactly 

the nature and quantities of a product in each labeled container. This goes beyond prohibitions 

against false advertising, and labeling is required to have a higher degree of truth and accuracy 

any advertisement.  

95. Federal law strictly prohibits any inconsistency between the label on a product 
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and the actual contents of the product.  Any such inconsistency is an unfair trade per se, and a 

violation of 15 U.S.C. § 45, the Federal Trade Commission Act.  

96. In this case, TFI marketed, and sold to the general public the Octopus Products, 

the labels of which clearly stated that the product contained within was octopus – to the contrary, 

it was squid. 

97. This is an unfair trade practice per se, in violation of Federal consumer protection 

laws, and FDUTPA. 

98. TFI’s unfair and deceptive trade practices are the direct cause of damage to the 

Plaintiff, and to all persons similarly situated. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 

similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant TFI. 

 
COUNT XIV 

Violation of Florida’s Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act 
as to CERQUEIRA 

 
Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 22 above as though fully set forth herein. 

99. This is an action based on CERQUEIRA’s intentional and unfair deception of 

consumers in Florida and throughout the United States.  

100. By its unfair and deceptive conduct (as more fully alleged hereinabove), 

CERQUEIRA has unreasonably grossed profited by deceiving the public and pawning of an 

inferior squid product as octopus. 

Case 1:16-cv-25023-CMA   Document 1   Entered on FLSD Docket 12/02/2016   Page 20 of 22



 
 

21 
 

101. Florida’s Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”) was passed by 

the Florida Legislature in 1973 for the purpose of modernizing law governing consumer 

protection, unfair methods of competition, and unconscionable, deceptive and unfair trade 

practices, and to protect the consuming public and legitimate businesses from those who engage 

in unfair methods of competition.  

102. FDUTPA ensures that Florida consumer protection is consistent with the 

established policies of Federal consumer protection laws. To that end, in addition to generally 

prohibiting “unfair methods of competition” and “unconscionable, unfair or deceptive acts,” 

FUDTPA specifically gives “great weight” to the interpretations of the Federal Trade 

Commission Act by Federal Courts and the Federal Trade Commission.  

103. Labels on products for consumption must be strictly accurate, reflecting exactly 

the nature and quantities of a product in each labeled container. This goes beyond prohibitions 

against false advertising, and labeling is required to have a higher degree of truth and accuracy 

any advertisement.  

104. Federal law strictly prohibits any inconsistency between the label on a product 

and the actual contents of the product.  Any such inconsistency is an unfair trade per se, and a 

violation of 15 U.S.C. § 45, the Federal Trade Commission Act.  

105. In this case, CERQUEIRA marketed, and sold to the general public the 

CERQUEIRA Cross-Brand Octopus Products, the labels of which clearly stated that the product 

contained within was octopus – to the contrary, it was squid. 

106. This is an unfair trade practice per se, in violation of Federal consumer protection 

laws, and FDUTPA. 

107. CERQUEIRA’s unfair and deceptive trade practices are the direct cause of 
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damage to the Plaintiff, and to all persons similarly situated. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, and all those similarly situated, respectfully request that this 

Court:  (a) certify a class of all similarly situated persons; (b) award Plaintiff, and all those 

similarly situated, damages, costs, interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and (c) for such 

other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper under the circumstances as to 

Defendant CERQUEIRA. 

Demand for Jury Trial 

 

Plaintiff, individually, and on behalf of all those similarly situated, hereby demands a jury 

trial on all issues triable by jury.  

 Dated this 2nd day of December, 2016. 

       Respectfully submitted, 

       SALPETER GITKIN, LLP 
       Attorneys for Plaintiff 
       One East Broward Boulevard 
       Suite 1500 
       Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 
       Telephone:  (954) 467-8622 
       Facsimile:  (954) 467-8623 
 
 
      By:  /s/ James P. Gitkin  

      James P. Gitkin, Esq. 
      Fla. Bar No. 570001 
 

~and~ 

 

BURSOR & FISHER, P.A. 
       L. Timothy Fisher (pro hac pending) 

(State Bar No. 191626) 
1990 North California Boulevard, Suite 940 
Walnut Creek, CA 94596 
Telephone:  (925) 300-4455 
 Facsimile:  (925) 407-2700 

  E-Mail:  ltfisher@bursor.com 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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